"Jarring" of a quantum system and the corresponding stimulated transitions

A. M. Dykhne and D. L. Yudin

I. V. Kurchatov Institute of Atomic Energy, Moscow Usp. Fiz. Nauk 125, 377–407 (July 1978)

A systematic theory of sudden perturbations is derived for quantum systems whose states are described both by wave functions (a pure ensemble) and by a quantum density operator (a mixed ensemble). A perturbation series is written in powers of the parameter $\omega \tau$, which is small when the perturbation is "sudden"; $\hbar \omega$ is the typical eigenvalue of the unperturbed system; and τ is the characteristic collision time. When the perturbation $\hat{V}(t)$, taken at different times, commutes with itself, the theory yields a compact analytic expression for the probabilities for stimulated transitions for any value of $V\tau/\hbar$. The results of many cross-section calculations for atomic collision processes are discussed from a common standpoint: the processes are treated as "jarring" processes which stimulate transitions in the quantum system. If a momentum δ_p is rapidly transferred to the system in a collision, regardless of the physical nature of the "jarring," the probabilities for the stimulated transitions are governed by the parameter $N \sim \delta_{\rho} \delta R/\hbar$ where δR is a measure of the uncertainty in the coordinates which is due to the relatively slow motions in the unperturbed system.

PACS numbers: 03.65.Ca, 05.30.Ch, 03.65.Nk, 03.80. + r

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	549
2.	Theory of sudden perturbations	551
	a. "Jarring" of the scattering type with $\hat{\xi} \equiv 0$	551
	b. Scattering in the general case $(\hat{\xi} \neq 0)$	552
	c. "Jarring" with change in the Hamiltonian of the system	553
	d. Example: spin flipping in a magnetic field	553
3.	"Jarring" in the case of a nearly resonant external effect on a quantum system	554
4.	The "jarring" parameter N	555
5.	Excitation of an oscillator	557
	a. Simple harmonic oscillator	557
	b. Parametric "jarring" of a harmonic oscillator at an arbitrary temperature	558
	c. Anharmonic oscillators	559
6.	"Jarring" of electrons from atomic shells	559
	a. Collisions of neutrons with light atoms	559
	b. Compton effect at a weakly bound electron	560
7.	Other collision processes	563
	a. Emission from a nucleus in a molecule or crystal	563
	b. Collisions of molecules with electrons and heavy particles	563
R	eferences	564

1. INTRODUCTION

The probability for any transition in a quantum-mechanical system which is subjected to some external agent is governed primarily by the duration of the interaction. In general, the interaction can vary with the time in an arbitrary manner. If an atom, for example, is excited by a passing heavy charged particle, the rate of change of the interaction between the particles depends on the velocity of the incident particle. In nonresonant γ scattering the interaction time is governed by the frequency of the γ ray, while in resonant scattering it is governed by the lifetime of the excited state, and so forth.

This characteristic time τ , which we call the "collision time," is always important not in itself but in comparison with the characteristic period $2\pi/\omega$ of the quantum system in whose transitions we are interested. Adiabatic interaction ($\omega \tau \gg 1$) lead to small probabilities

for the quantum transitions in states with a discrete spectrum (the probabilities decrease in an exponential or power-law manner). The "most suitable" type of interaction for excitation is the opposite case of a sudden perturbation ($\omega \tau \ll 1$), for which the probability for a transition to any other state can approach unity.

For convenience, we will single out the two extreme cases of the various possible "jarring" processes. In the first case, the Hamiltonian of the quantum system alters rapidly in a time τ short in comparison with $1/\omega$ (a jarring of the "turn-on" type; Fig. 1). In the other case, a perturbation V(t) acts for a short time τ , and in the limits $t \to \pm \infty$ the total Hamiltonian of the system is the unperturbed Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_0$ (a jarring of the "scattering" type; Fig. 2). In general, of course, there can also be a jarring of the most complicated type, involving both a sudden jump of the Hamiltonian and a perturbation $\hat{V}(t)$ (Fig. 3).

The simplest example of "turn-on" jarring is the en-

- **- p**

© 1979 American Institue of Physics 549



FIG. 1. "Jarring" of the "turn-on" type.

trance of an electron into a strong external field.¹ If the probabilities for quantum transitions are to be significant in the case of "turn-on" jarring, the change in the Hamiltonian must be comparable to the Hamiltonian itself, while in a jarring of the scattering type the necessary condition is that the perturbation $\hat{V}(t)$ be large enough to satisfy the condition $\hat{V}\tau/\hbar \ge 1$.

The major thrust in the classical papers on jarring processes was to determine the effects of atomic structure in fast nuclear reactions.^{2,3} Other interesting processes are the fast processes at the atomic and molecular level, where the collisions come in a wider variety than in nuclear reactions, since the atomic and molecular processes are more susceptible to all types of external fields and may be strongly affected by them.

Despite the differences in the physical nature of the various processes which are interpreted as jarring processes, there are many common features. The most important feature is that most of these processes can be assigned a "jarring parameter" N, whose meaning will be discussed in detail below.

The general behavior and characteristic features of the real jarring effects (the list is endless, of course) can be studied in detail in the example of the interaction of a weakly bound electron with hard electromagnetic radiation. Of primary importance here are the Compton effect at an atomic electron and the absorption, emission, and scattering of light in which molecules are involved. The interaction with radiation takes up a large part of the present paper, but we will also describe the most general features of the jarring parameter in collisions of molecules with fast charged particles. We will make no effort to study any of these effects in detail, since a detailed study would not be necessary for our purposes; we simply wish to point out the jarring interpretation of a broad range of problems, and we will approach each separate problem with this goal in mind.

As will be seen below, the parameter N is very sensitive to the uncertainty in the coordinates of the unperturbed system, δR , which is due to the relatively slow internal motions. We emphasize that the reason for this uncertainty with respect to the coordinates is physically unimportant; the reason could be the classical motion of an electron in a laser wave; quantized motion in the field of an atom, a molecule, or a crystal lattice; etc. The only differences in the different situations are in the equations for the transition probabilities; the way in



Here is a second second

FIG. 3. "Jarring" in the general case.

which these probabilities vary with the parameter N does not change.

Before we can demonstrate all these arguments, however, we need a systematic theory for sudden perturbations (based on, for example, a power series in $\omega\tau$) so that we can clearly specify the range of applicability of the jarring approach and, in particular, so that we can see in which collisions we should expect such a characteristic as this parameter N to arise. We will first review the previous work on this subject.

The theory of sudden perturbations has been derived for only a few model problems (see, for example, Refs. 2 and 4), and the analysis has usually been restricted to the zeroth approximation for the transition amplitude in the parameter $\omega\tau$. In the scattering type of jarring we are most interested in arbitrary values of $V\tau/\hbar$. In the existing theory,^{5,8} two distinct commutation relations are adopted to find the transition amplitudes for this type of jarring:

$$[\hat{V}, \hat{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathbf{0}}] = 0, \quad [\hat{V}(t), \hat{V}(t')] = 0$$

(Vitlina and Chaplik⁹ derive an equation for the amplitude in zeroth order in $\omega \tau$ by a method based on only the second of these commutation relations). Despite these stringent requirements (the condition $[\hat{V}, \hat{\mathcal{K}}_0] \equiv 0$ never holds), the relative simplicity of the resulting equations for the scattering amplitudes has led to the widespread use of this approximation to study the vibrational and rotational excitation of molecules in collisions with electrons and heavy particles. In the absence of a fullfledged theory of sudden perturbations, the only way to evaluate the results has been to compare them numerically with other calculations, carried out on a firmer basis.

In Section 2 below we set forth a theory of sudden perturbations which does not suffer from these shortcomings. We will show that the condition $[\hat{V}, \hat{\mathcal{H}}_0] \equiv 0$, which is not satisfied, is completely unnecessary at small values of $\omega \tau$. Whether the equation for the transition amplitude is simple or complicated for an arbitrary value of $V\tau/\hbar$ depends strongly on whether the commutator

$$\hat{\xi}(t, t') \equiv [\hat{V}(t), \hat{V}(t')]$$
 (1)

is small or large. The equation for the amplitude is simplest in the limit $\xi \rightarrow 0$, which corresponds to the collision models most commonly used. If, on the other hand, the commutator in (1) is not small, the theory becomes far more complicated, and in general the theory cannot be formulated in finite form for arbitrary values of $V\tau/\hbar$ (see the Note Added in Proof at the end of this paper).

From nuclear physics we have a good example of a situation in which the interaction potential is large and the commutator in (1) is by no means small. We have in mind the tensor part of the two-nuclear interaction,^{10,11} which is proportional to the operator

$$\frac{3}{r^{s}} (\hat{\sigma}_{1} \mathbf{r}) (\hat{\sigma}_{2} \mathbf{r}) - \hat{\sigma}_{1} \hat{\sigma}_{2},$$

where $\hat{\sigma}_{1,2}$ are spinors, and **r** is the radius vector between the two nucleons. Choosing any arbitrary classical trajectory for one of the nucleons as it is scattered by the other, we easily see that the operators $(\hat{\sigma}_1 \mathbf{n})(\hat{\sigma}_2 \mathbf{n})$ corresponding to different times do not commute (the direction of the unit vector $\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{r}/r$ varies with the time).

An analogous example from atomic physics is the interaction of a magnetic moment $\hat{\mu}$ with a strong magnetic field. If the field is variable, and the vector $\mathbf{H}(t)$ changes direction in a time τ , then the potential $\hat{V} = \hat{\mu} \mathbf{H}(t)$ does not commute with itself at different times. In this case the exact equation for the transition amplitude has nothing in common with the simplest jarring result, which is valid only in the limit $\xi \rightarrow 0$.

2. THEORY OF SUDDEN PERTURBATIONS

a. "Jarring" of the scattering type with $\hat{\xi} \equiv 0$

We assume that the total Hamiltonian of the quantummechanical system $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$, is broken up into the sum of a time-independent part $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_0$ (the unperturbed Hamiltonian) and a part which is due to the interaction with the external field, $\hat{V}(t)$:

 $\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{0} + \hat{V}(t).$

We assume that $\hat{V}(t)$ vanishes outside a time interval τ near the instant t_0 and that the operators $\hat{V}(t)$ taken at different times commute.

Below we will distinguish among the state vectors of the quantum system which are written in the interaction picture, $|\Psi\rangle$ and those which are written in the Schrödinger picture $|\Phi\rangle$; and the corresponding unitary evolution operators $\hat{S}(t, t')$ and $\hat{U}(t, t)$, which relate the corresponding vectors at different times:

$$|\Psi(t)\rangle = \hat{S}(t, t') |\Psi(t')\rangle, \tag{2}$$

$$|\Phi(t)\rangle = U(t, t') |\Phi(t')\rangle.$$
(3)

In the general case, we find the most informative possible description of the quantum-mechanical system when we replace the state vectors by the quantum density operator $\hat{\rho}$ (this operator is the "statistical operator," and the set of elements $\langle s' | \hat{\rho} | s \rangle$ forms the density matrix). For our purposes it will be convenient to use the density operator written in the interaction picture,

$$\hat{\rho} = \sum_{s} |\Psi_{s}\rangle w_{s} \langle \Psi_{s}| \tag{4}$$

(the weight factors w_s determine the probabilities for finding the system in the different quantum states $|\Psi_s\rangle$). The time evolution of the operator in (4) is evidently described by

$$\hat{\rho}(t) = \hat{S}(t, t') \hat{\rho}(t') \hat{S}^{-1}(t, t').$$
(5)

The time-evolution operator $\hat{S}(t, t')$ satisfies the differential equation

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \hat{S}(t, t')}{\partial t} = \hat{W}(t) \hat{S}(t, t')$$
(6)

with the boundary condition $\hat{S}(t, t) = \hat{I}$, or, equivalently,

551 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978

the integral equation

- b

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \hat{I} - \frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^{t} dt \, \hat{W}(t) \, \hat{S}(t, t');$$
(7)

here $\hat{W}(t)$ is the operator $\hat{V}(t)$ written in the interaction picture,

$$\hat{W}(t) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}\,\hat{\mathscr{H}}_0 t\right)\hat{V}(t)\exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}\,\hat{\mathscr{H}}_0 t\right). \tag{8}$$

In terms of the state vectors describing the pure ensemble, the scattering problem can be formulated as follows. We denote by $|i\rangle$ and $|f\rangle$ the initial and final states of the system, which are eigenfunctions of the Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_0$:

$$\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0}|i\rangle = E_{i}|i\rangle, \quad \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0}|f\rangle = E_{f}|f\rangle.$$
(9)

The probability for a transition from state $|i\rangle$ to the state $|f\rangle$ as the result of the perturbation $\hat{V}(t)$ is governed by the square of the modulus of the matrix element

$$\mathfrak{M}_{fi} = \langle f \mid \hat{S} (+\infty, -\infty) \mid i \rangle.$$
(10)

For the case of a mixed ensemble the scattering problem cannot be formulated as a quantum-transition problem in the ordinary sense of the phrase. We assume that in its initial state $(t - -\infty)$ the system is described by the density operator

$$\hat{\rho}_{i} \equiv \hat{\rho}(-\infty) = \sum_{i} |i\rangle w_{i} \langle i|, \qquad (11)$$

where the sum is over all eigenstates of the unperturbed Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathscr{H}}_0$. Then the probability for finding the system in stationary state $|f\rangle$ of the unperturbed Hamiltonian in the limit $t \rightarrow +\infty$ is given by

$$w_j(i) = \langle f | \hat{\rho}(+\infty) | f \rangle = \langle f | \hat{S}(+\infty, -\infty) \hat{\rho}_i \hat{S}^{-1}(+\infty, -\infty) | f \rangle.$$
 (12)

If $\hbar \omega$ is a typical eigenvalue of \mathscr{H}_0 , and the parameter $\omega \tau$ is small, the perturbation operator in the interaction picture can be expanded in a power series in $\omega \tau$ [here $W_n \sim (\omega \tau)^n$]:

$$\hat{W}(t) = \hat{W}_0(t) + \hat{W}_1(t) + \hat{W}_2(t) + \dots,$$
(13)

$$\hat{W}_{0}(t) = \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0}t_{0}\right)\hat{V}(t)\exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0}t_{0}\right), \qquad (14)$$

$$\hat{W}_{1}(t) = \frac{t-t_{0}}{i\hbar} \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{B}}_{0} t_{0}\right) \left[\hat{V}(t), \hat{\mathscr{B}}_{0}\right] \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{B}}_{0} t_{0}\right),$$
(15)

$$\hat{W}_{2}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{t-t_{0}}{i\hbar} \right)^{2} \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0} t_{0} \right) \left[[\hat{V}(t), \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0}], \hat{\mathscr{S}}_{\ell} \right] \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0} t_{0} \right), \dots$$
(16)

To solve Eq. (6), we also write the evolution operator $\hat{S}(t, t')$ as a power series in $\omega \tau [\Delta_n \sim (\omega \tau)^n]$:

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \hat{S}_0(t, t') [\hat{I} + \hat{\Delta}_1(t, t') + \hat{\Delta}_2(t, t') + \dots].$$
(17)

Since we are assuming $\hat{\xi} \equiv 0$ in this subsection, we can immediately integrate Eq. (6), using the substitution (13)-(16):

$$\hat{S}_{0}(t, t') = \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^{t} dt \, \hat{W}_{0}(t)\right]$$
(18)

$$= \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{H}}_0 t_0\right) \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^t dt \, \hat{V}(t)\right] \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{B}}_0 t_0\right),$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{1}(t, t') = -\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^{t} dt \, \hat{S}_{0}^{-1}(t, t') \, \hat{W}_{1}(t) \, \hat{S}_{0}(t, t'), \qquad (19)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{2}(t, t') = \frac{[\hat{\Delta}_{1}(t, t')]^{2}}{2} - \frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^{t} dt \, \hat{S}_{0}^{-1}(t, t') \, \hat{W}_{2}(t) \, \hat{S}_{0}(t, t'), \dots$$
(20)

In the zeroth approximation in $\omega \tau$, in which we have $\hat{S} \approx \hat{S}_0$, the transition amplitude is written as follows,

• •

aside from an inconsequential phase factor:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{i}^{i} = \langle f | \exp \left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \hat{V}(t) \right] | i \rangle.$$
(21)

In terms of the quantum density operator, the probability is thus

$$w_{f}^{o}(i) = \langle f | \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \hat{V}(t) \right] \hat{\rho}_{i} \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \hat{V}(t) \right] | f \rangle.$$
 (22)

Let us examine in particular that jarring case which is most common in practice, in which we can assume that the system acquires a definite momentum δp as the result of a collision. Under this assumption, in zeroth order in $\omega \tau$, the action of the operator $\hat{S}_0(+\infty, -\infty)$ on the function $|f\rangle$ reduces to simply a displacement δp in momentum space:

$$f|\hat{S}_0(+\infty, -\infty) = \langle f|\exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}\delta\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{r}\right).$$
(23)

Accordingly [see also Refs. 2 and 12 regarding Eq. (24)],

$$\mathfrak{M}_{i}^{0} = \langle f | \exp\left(-\frac{\iota}{\hbar} \, \delta \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{r}\right) | i \rangle, \qquad (24)$$

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{f}^{\boldsymbol{\theta}}\left(\boldsymbol{i}\right) = \langle f | \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \, \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{r}\right) \, \hat{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{\boldsymbol{i}} \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \, \boldsymbol{\delta} \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{r}\right) | f \rangle.$$
(25)

Equations (24) and (25) follow directly from Eqs. (21) and (22) if we set

$$\hat{V}(t) = \mathbf{f}(t)\mathbf{r}, \qquad \delta \mathbf{p} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \mathbf{f}(t),$$

where $\mathbf{f}(t)$ is the perturbing force.

If the quantity f(t) falls off rapidly [say, exponentially, when the perturbation theory of (17)-(20) in powers of $\omega\tau$ is applicable in any order] outside the time interval τ , the question of the corrections to the zeroth approximation in $\omega\tau$ can be solved in a quite general case. Let us assume that the Hamiltonian of the unperturbed system incorporates a momentum-independent potential term:

$$\hat{\mathcal{P}}_0 = \frac{\hat{p}^2}{2m} + U(\mathbf{r}).$$

Then the evolution operator of this system takes the following form when an external perturbation $\hat{V}(t) = \mathbf{f}(t)\mathbf{r}$ is imposed (the instant of jarring is adopted as the origin of the time scale; $t_0 = 0$):

$$\hat{S}(+\infty, -\infty) = \exp(i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{r}) \left[\hat{I} + \hat{\Delta}_1 + \hat{\Delta}_2 + O((\omega\tau)^3)\right], \quad (26)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{i} = \frac{i}{\hbar m} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, t \mathbf{f} \, (t) \, [\hbar \mathbf{q} \, (t) + \hat{\mathbf{p}}], \qquad (27)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{2} = \frac{(\hat{\Delta}_{1})^{2}}{2} - \frac{1}{2m\hbar^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, t^{2} \mathbf{f}(t) \, [U(\mathbf{r}), \, \hat{\mathbf{p}}], \qquad (28)$$

where

$$\mathbf{q}(t) = -\frac{1}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{t} dt \, \mathbf{f}(t), \quad \mathbf{q} \equiv \mathbf{q}(+\infty). \tag{29}$$

If f(t) = f(-t), the quantity $\hat{\Delta}_1$ becomes a purely imaginary *c*-number, which is independent of the coordinates, and there are no corrections of first order in $\omega \tau$ in the probabilities for transitions stimulated by the perturbation $f(t)\mathbf{r}$.

There can be cases in which the time integral of the perturbation $\hat{V}(t)$ is small, although the perturbation itself is not. If we knew only the equations of the zeroth

552 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978

jarring approximation, we could not calculate the probabilities for quantum transitions in such a case. We would have to use equations for the next orders in $\omega\tau$ in the evolution operator in (17). Let us assume, for example, that the time integral of $\hat{V}(t)$ is smaller than or of the order of $(\omega\tau)^2$. Then the equation for the transition amplitude in the limit $\omega\tau \to 0$ takes the following form $(|i\rangle \neq |f\rangle)$:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{fl} \sim \frac{1}{\hbar^2} \langle f | \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, (t - t_0) \left[\hat{V}(t), \, \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\mathcal{O}}^{\circ} \right] | i \rangle.$$
(30)

b. Scattering in the general case ($\hat{\xi} \neq 0$)

If the operators $\hat{V}(t)$ for different times do not commute, Eq. (6) cannot be integrated as simply as in the preceding subsection, even in the limit $\omega \tau \rightarrow 0$. Since we are interested in values $V\tau/\hbar \ge 1$, it is pointless to seek solutions of (6) or (7) by successive approximations. We can take the following approach, however.

Using the group property of the evolution operators,

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \hat{S}(t, t'') \hat{S}(t'', t'),$$
 (31)

we can write $\hat{S}(t, t')$ as the product

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \hat{S}(t, t_n) \hat{S}(t_n, t_{n-1}) \dots \hat{S}(t_2, t_1) \hat{S}(t_1, t').$$
(32)

Letting t_k approach t_{k+1} (more precisely, requiring $\delta t_k = t_{k+1} - t_k \ll \tau$), we can easily integrate Eq. (6) for each of the factors in (32):

$$\hat{S}(t_{k+1}, t_k) = \exp\left[-\frac{t}{\hbar}\hat{W}(t_k)\,\delta t_k\right].$$
(33)

We now collect all the terms in (32) in pairs, applying the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff (BCH) equation¹³ each time:

$$\exp(\hat{A}) \exp(\hat{B}) = \exp\left\{\hat{A} + \hat{B} + \frac{1}{2}[\hat{A}, \hat{B}] + \frac{1}{12}[\hat{A}, [\hat{A}, \hat{B}]] + \frac{1}{12}[\hat{A}, \hat{B}], \hat{B}] + \dots\right\}.$$
(34)

As a result, the finite-evolution operator in (32) leads to the following exponential equation [in the standard method^{6,13-15} for deriving (35)-(38), a solution of Eq. (6) is immediately sought in the form of the expansion in (35)]:

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \exp(\hat{A_1} + \hat{A_2} + \hat{A_3} + \ldots),$$
 (35)

$$\hat{A}_{i} = -\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{t'}^{t} dt \, \hat{W}(t), \qquad (36)$$

$$\hat{A}_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \right)^{2} \int_{t'}^{t} dt_{1} \int_{t'}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} [\hat{W}(t_{1}), 1\hat{V}(t_{2})], \qquad (37)$$

$$\hat{A}_{3} = \frac{1}{6} \left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \right)^{3} \int_{t'}^{t} dt_{1} \int_{t'}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} \int_{t'}^{t'} dt_{3} \left\{ [\hat{W}(t_{1}), [\hat{W}(t_{2}), \hat{W}(t_{3})] \right\}$$

+ [[$\hat{W}(t_1), \hat{W}(t_2)$], $\hat{W}(t_3)$]}, ...

Equations (35)- (38) are called the "Magnus expansion" and are seen to be the continuous analog of the BCH equation (34). For completeness we note that the solution of Eq. (6) for the most general case is conveniently sought by using the substitution¹⁶

$$\hat{S}(t, t') = \exp(\hat{B}_1) \exp(\hat{B}_2) \exp(\hat{B}_3) \dots$$
 (39)

The recurrence relations for \hat{A}_n and \hat{B}_n , which are *n*-fold integrals of (n-1)-fold commutators of the operators $\hat{W}(t)$ taken at different times, and other mathemati-

cal details can be found in Refs. 6, 13-18.

In the zeroth order in $\omega\tau$ one must make in expression (35)-(39) the replacement $\hat{W} - \hat{W}_0$ [cf. Eq. (14)]. Thus, in this approximation \hat{A}_n and \hat{B}_n contain (n-1)-fold commutators of the operators $\hat{V}(t)$ taken at different times. In the case when $\hat{\xi} \equiv 0$ only \hat{A}_1 and \hat{B}_1 differ from zero in Eqs. (35) and (39) and this corresponds to the result of the preceding subsection. If it should turn out that the commutator $\xi \ll 1$, then within the framework of the expansions (35)-(39) it will be easy to write out the perturbation theory in powers of ξ .

The presentation of the solution of Eq. (6) in the form of the expansion (35) or (39) is particularly convenient in those situations when the (n-1)-fold commutators contained in \hat{A}_n and \hat{B}_n finally become *c*-numbers as *n* increases. If this occurs, for example, at $n=n^*$ then all $\hat{A}_{n>n^*} \equiv \hat{B}_{n>n^*} \equiv 0$ and, consequently, the scattering amplitude can be written in finite terms. An interesting and useful example of just such a situation is the harmonic oscillator acted upon by an arbitrary external force (in this case $n^*=2$; cf. Sec. 5).

In conclusion we emphasize that since the operators \hat{A}_n are Hermitian no manner of breaking off the infinite series in the exponent of (35) will violate the unitarity of the evolution operator $\hat{S}(t, t')$.

c. "Jarring" with a change in the Hamiltonian of the system

Let us assume that at $t \to -\infty$ the quantum system is in one of the stationary states (we are now considering a pure ensemble) which are the eigenfunctions of the Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_i$:

 $\hat{\mathscr{H}}_{\mathfrak{l}}|\mathfrak{i}\rangle = E_{\mathfrak{i}}|\mathfrak{i}\rangle.$

Near the time t_0 , the system is subjected to a sudden external agent $\hat{V}(t)$, and in the limit $t \rightarrow +\infty$ the system is accordingly in some stationary state of the (generally different) Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_f$:

$$\hat{\mathscr{B}}_{f}|f\rangle = E_{f}|f\rangle$$

(Fig. 3). The perturbation is "sudden" because the characteristic time interval over which is acts is much shorter than the reciprocals of the typical frequencies, $\omega^{-1} \sim \hbar/E_f$.

Let us redefine the perturbation operator in such a manner that it vanishes at $t \rightarrow \pm \infty$:

$$\hat{\mathscr{H}} = \hat{\mathscr{H}}_0 + \hat{V}(t) = \begin{cases} \hat{\mathscr{D}}_1 + \hat{V}(t) & \text{for } t \leq t_0, \\ \hat{\mathscr{H}}_1 + \hat{V}(t) & \text{for } t \geq t_0. \end{cases}$$
(40)

The probability amplitude for a transition between states $|i\rangle$ and $|f\rangle$ is found through the obvious transformation

$$t_{-} \ll t_{0} \ll t_{+} \cdot \mathfrak{M}_{fi} = \langle f | \hat{G} | i \rangle.$$
(42)

The exact equation for this amplitude is

$$\hat{G} = \hat{S}_f(+\infty, t) \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{H}}_j t_0\right) \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \hat{\mathscr{H}}_i t_0\right) \hat{S}_i(t_0, -\infty).$$
(43)

The subscripts "i" and "f" on the wave functions and operators in (41) and (43) mean that these quantities are

written in the interaction picture—once with the unperturbed Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_i$ and once with $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_f$.

In the formulation of the collision process in which the quantum density operator is used (for a mixed ensemble), the analogous equation for the probability for finding the system in one of the eigenstates $|f\rangle$ of the final Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{f}$ is

$$w_f(i) = \langle f | \hat{G} \hat{\rho}_i \hat{G}^{-1} | f \rangle.$$
(44)

We emphasize that the results in (42)-(44) are exact, and they are valid for any value of $\omega\tau$. If, on the other hand, $\omega\tau \ll 1$, all the equations of the theory for jarring of the scattering type can be used immediately to evaluate the evolution operators in (42)-(44).

As mentioned above, in contrast to jarring of the scattering type, the transition amplitude, even in zeroth order in $\omega \tau$ and $V \tau / \hbar$,

$$\mathfrak{M}_{fi}^{\mathfrak{s}} = \langle f \mid i \rangle, \tag{45}$$

and the corresponding probability

- 6

$$\boldsymbol{w}_{j}^{00}(i) = \langle f | \hat{\boldsymbol{\rho}}_{i} | f \rangle \tag{46}$$

are generally not small in this case.

d. Example: spin flipping in a magnetic field

In this subsection we will illustrate certain aspects of the jarring approximation by calculating the probability for the flipping of the spin of a particle in a varying magnetic field. In particular, we will demonstrate that the simple result in (21) is not applicable when the perturbation operators taken at different times do not commute. We can obtain this result because this problem can be solved exactly in the nonrelativistic limit.

We assume that a particle with a spin $\hbar/2$ and a magnetic moment μ is in a constant and homogeneous magnetic field H_0 , which is directed along the z axis. At time t=0, a homogeneous magnetic field $H_1(t)$ is applied; this field is in the x, y plane and is rotating in it at an angular velocity Ω . This field is removed at the time $t=\tau$. In the time interval $0 < t < \tau$ the particle is in the resultant field

$$\mathbf{H} = \{H_1 \cos \Omega t, H_1 \sin \Omega t, H_0\}. \tag{47}$$

Let us assume for definiteness that the spin of the particle at t < 0 is directed along the positive z axis, i.e., that the wave function is $\binom{1}{0}$. The wave function which describes the state of the particle at any time in the interval $(0, \tau)$ is

$$\Psi(t) = \begin{pmatrix} a(t) \\ b(t) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{48}$$

$$\mathbf{a}(t) = \frac{(\mu H_0 - \hbar \omega_2) \exp(i\omega_1 t) + (\hbar \omega_1 - \mu H_0) \exp(i\omega_2 t)}{t}, \qquad (49)$$

$$b(t) = \frac{(\hbar\omega_1 - \mu H_0) (\mu H_0 - \hbar\omega_2) \exp(i\Omega t) [\exp(i\omega_1 t) - \exp(i\omega_2 t)]}{\mu H_1 \hbar (\omega_1 - \omega_2)}, \quad (50)$$

where

$$\hbar\omega_{1,2} = -\frac{\hbar\Omega}{2} \pm \sqrt{\mu^2 H_1^2 + \left(\mu H_0 + \frac{\hbar\Omega}{2}\right)^2}.$$
 (51)

The probability for spin flipping by the time $t=\tau$ is

$$|b(\tau)|^{2} = \left[2 \frac{(\hbar\omega_{1} - \mu H_{0})(\mu H_{0} - \hbar\omega_{2})}{\mu H_{1}\hbar(\omega_{1} - \omega_{2})} \sin\left(\frac{\omega_{1} - \omega_{2}}{2}\tau\right)\right]^{2}.$$
 (52)

Now let us assume that the time interval τ is so short that the jarring condition holds:

553 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978

$$\frac{\mu H_0 \tau}{\hbar} \ll 1 . \tag{53}$$

We also assume that inequality (53) is so strong that it would be sufficient to use the zeroth approximation in $\mu H_0 \tau / \hbar$ under normal conditions. Since, however, the interaction operator

$$\hat{V}(t) = \mu H_t \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \exp(-i\Omega t) \\ \exp(i\Omega t) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(54)

does not commute with itself at different times,

į

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}} = [\hat{\boldsymbol{V}}(t), \ \hat{\boldsymbol{V}}(t')] = 2i\mu^2 H_3^2 \hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_s \sin\left[\Omega\left(t-t'\right)\right]$$
(55)

 $(\hat{\sigma}_s$ is the Pauli matrix), the theory of Subsection a) is not applicable, and it is generally necessary to take into account all the terms in the Magnus expansion in (35) or the Fer expansion in (39) for estimating the time-evolution operator.

A calculation of the probability amplitude for spin flipping from Eq. (21) yields

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\downarrow\uparrow}^{0} = \frac{1 - \exp\left(i\Omega\tau\right)}{2\sin\left(\overline{\Omega\tau} \ 2\right)} \sin\left(\frac{2\mu H_{1}}{\lambda\Omega}\sin\frac{\Omega\tau}{2}\right).$$
(56)

The commutator in (55) depends on the parameter $\Omega \tau$. Physically, this parameter determines the angle through which the variable field $\mathbf{H}_1(t)$ manages to rotate during "jarring". For arbitrary values of $\Omega \tau$, the probability $|\mathfrak{M}_{++}^0|^2$ has nothing in common with the exact result in (52), even in the limit $\omega \tau \to 0$. If, on the other hand, the field $\mathbf{H}_1(t)$ does not have time to change direction substantially, i.e., if $\Omega \tau \ll 1$, then it is easy to see that under condition (53) the probability $|\mathfrak{M}_{++}^0|^2$ is equal to its exact equivalent in both the zeroth and first orders in $\Omega \tau$.

3. "JARRING" IN THE CASE OF A NEARLY RESONANT EXTERNAL EFFECT ON A QUANTUM SYSTEM

If the atoms or molecules are excited by a varying external field instead of in a fast collision, the jarring condition $\omega \tau \ll 1$ is not easily satisfied since the necessary interaction times τ become too short. Conversely in most cases in which a quantum system is excited by an external field the adiabatic condition $\omega \tau \gg 1$ holds, and the transition probabilities are small. An exceptional case (although again in this case the condition $\omega \tau \gg 1$ holds) is that in which a resonant laser field is used to pump the system; this is the most effective pumping method presently available. The jarring-theory explanation for this situation is that the problem of a nearly resonant excitation of a quantum system in an electromagnetic pulse of finite length reduces to a jarring problem although the frequency of the external agent is comparable to the internal frequencies of the unperturbed system. We will now show that whether the jarringtheory approach is applicable depends on whether the product $\Delta \cdot \tau$ is small, where Δ is the frequency difference in the case of a nearly resonant excitation, and τ is the pulse length of the external agent. In this sense the zeroth jarring approximation $(\Delta \cdot \tau - 0)$ is equivalent to the resonant approximation.

Experimentally, molecular systems are usually quite complicated, so that the parameter $\Delta \cdot \tau$ can take on arbitrary values. As soon as it reaches values of the order of unity or higher, however, the probabilities for the allowed transitions to the corresponding levels fall off rapidly, and the entire spectrum break up into separate groups of levels, for each of which the resonant-excitation problem can be solved separately.

We therefore consider an arbitrary *n*-level system in which the level spacing is nearly uniform and approximately equal to the photon energy of the external field $(\hat{\mathcal{H}}_0$ is the Hamiltonian of the system, and E_k and $|k\rangle$ are its eigenvalues and eigenvectors):

$$\hbar \omega \sim E_{k+1} - E_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \ldots, n.$$

Let us assume that the external perturbation $\hat{V}\varphi(t)\cos\omega t$ causes transitions only between adjacent levels, that the operator \hat{V} is independent of the time, and that the pulse envelope $\varphi(t)$ is confined primarily to the time interval τ near the instant t=0. The maximum value of the function $\varphi(t)$ is unity, and, of course, the condition $\omega \tau \gg 1$ holds.

Solving the Schrödinger equation by means of the substitution

$$\Psi(i) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} C_k(i) \exp\left(-ik\omega t\right) |k\rangle$$
(57)

after the high-frequency terms are eliminated in the standard manner (we assume $|E_k - \hbar k\omega| \ll \hbar \omega$), we find the system of equations

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial C_{k}}{\partial t} = (E_{k} - \hbar k\omega) C_{k} + \varphi(t) (V_{k, k-1}C_{k-1} + V_{k, k+1}C_{k+1}).$$
(58)

These equations describe the time evolution of a quantum system which is different from the original system and which has the quasi-Hamiltonian

$$\hat{\mathscr{H}}' = \hat{\mathscr{H}}'_{0} + \hat{V}\varphi(t).$$
(59)

The energy spectrum of \mathcal{H}'_0 is a set of quasilevels $E_k - \hbar k \omega$. If the adiabatic condition $\omega \tau \gg 1$ holds for the original system, with the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{\mathscr{H}} = \hat{\mathscr{H}}_{0} + \hat{V}_{\varphi}(t) \cos \omega t , \qquad (60)$$

then the jarring condition can hold for a quantum system with quasi-Hamiltonian (59) provided that

$$|E_{k} - \hbar k\omega| \frac{1}{k} \ll 1. \tag{61}$$

Inequality (61) means that, because of the finite time interval τ , all the levels are actually excited in a resonant manner. In jarring-theory terms, the resonant approximation is equivalent to the zeroth order approximation in $\Delta \cdot \tau$. The methods of Section 2 can thus be applied to the quantum-transition problem.

The transformation to the interaction picture used in Section 2 corresponds in this case to a transformation from the amplitudes $C_k(t)$ [see (57)] to the amplitudes $a_k(t)$, which are determined from the expansion

$$\Psi(t) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} a_{h}(t) \exp\left(-\frac{iE_{h}t}{\hbar}\right) | k \rangle.$$
(62)

In place of (58) in the interaction picture we have

W

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial \hat{A}}{\partial t} = \varphi(t) \hat{W}(t) \hat{A}, \quad \hat{A} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ \vdots \\ a_n \end{pmatrix}.$$
(63)

The only nonvanishing elements in $\hat{W}(t)$ are those which are near the main diagonal:

$$\hat{h}_{k,k+1} = V_{k,k+1} \exp(-i\Delta_k t), \quad w_{k,k-1} = V_{k,k-1} \exp(i\Delta_{k-1} t),$$

$$\hbar \Delta_k = E_{k+1} - E_k - \hbar \omega.$$
(64)

Equation (63) has precisely the same form as the equation for the time-evolution operator in (6), and it is solved in precisely the same manner. In the zeroth order approximation in $\Delta \cdot \tau$, we find

$$\hat{A}(+\infty) = \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{V}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}dt\,\varphi(t)\right]\hat{A}(-\infty).$$
(65)

The only nonvanishing elements in the time-independent operator \hat{V} are $V_{k,k+1}$ and $V_{k,k-1}$.

The result in (65) is valid for arbitrary values of $V\tau/\hbar$, i.e., for an arbitrary intensity of the electromagnetic pulse stimulating the transitions. We will not write out the solutions of Eq. (63) for high-order approximations in $\Delta \cdot \tau$. Let us examine some illustrative calculations of the probabilities for stimulated transitions on the basis of Eq. (65). In the case of a two-level system which is in one of its stationary states at $t - \infty$, the probability for a transition to the other state at $t + \infty$ is given by the familiar equation (cf., for example, Ref. 12)

$$w_{21} = \sin^2 \left[\frac{|V_{21}|}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \varphi(t) \right].$$
(66)

Analogously, for a three-level system which is initially in, say, its lowest-lying state, $|1\rangle$, the transition probabilities are

$$w_{11} = \left(\frac{|V_{12}|^2 \cos \Phi_{+} |V_{23}|^2}{|V_{12}|^2 + |V_{23}|^2}\right)^2, \qquad w_{31} = \left(\frac{|V_{12}V_{23}|(1 - \cos \Phi)}{|V_{12}|^2 - |V_{23}|^2}\right)^2, \tag{67}$$

$$w_{21} = \frac{|V_{12}|^2 \sin^2 \Phi}{|V_{12}|^2 - |V_{23}|^2}, \qquad \Phi = \frac{\sqrt{|V_{12}|^2 - |V_{23}|^2}}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \varphi(t).$$

Calculations for the probabilities of nearly resonant transitions are frequently carried out in the resonant approximation, which can be used to transform from the original Hamiltonian in (60) to the quasi-Hamiltonian in (59) and then to take the limit $\Delta \cdot \tau \to 0$. To evaluate the limits of applicability of this approach it is necessary, for example, to compare the exact equation for the transition amplitude in the simple harmonic oscillator [see Eq. (79) and (80) below] with the corresponding amplitude in the resonant case, in which the equation for $f(\omega)$ contains the time integral of $\varphi(t) \exp(-i\Delta t)$ or a time integral of $\varphi(t)$ instead of $\varphi(t) \exp(-i\omega t)$. We immediately see that the high-frequency terms in the Fourier component $f(\omega)$ which have been discarded make an exponentially small contribution.

4. THE "JARRING" PARAMETER N

An examination of the various models for many kinds of fast collisions of interest in physics shows that most of them are formulated in one of two ways: either the corresponding perturbation operators $\hat{V}(t)$, taken at various times, are assumed to commute, or (most frequently) the results of the collision can be interpreted as a fast transfer of momentum to the quantum system.

In the second case, in the zeroth order in $\omega \tau$, it is easy to see that no restrictions are imposed on the commutation relations for the operators $\hat{V}(t)$. This fact can be understood most simply if we interpret the momentum transfer as a "turn-on" jarring, i.e., if we consider the displacement in momentum space in (23) to be a consequence of the transformation to the wave functions of a different Hamiltonian.^{2,12} Since no assumptions are made about the commutation relations in the derivation of (45) and (46), the results which follow from these equations, (24) and (25), are also valid for any jarring processes in which there is a fast momentum transfer.

This circumstance considerably expands the range of interactions for which Eqs. (24) and (25) can be used to determine the probabilities of the corresponding quantum transitions. Much of the present paper is devoted to an analysis of processes involving a fast momentum transfer and to an identification of the common features of these processes, which actually stem from the general nature of the results in (34) and (25).

We first recall some results from Ref. 1. It was shown there that various elementary processes which involve the transfer of a large momentum δp to an electron and which occur in a laser field stimulate the absorption and emission of photons of this field (we will refer to reaction channels with definite sets of such photons as "satellites"). The first stage of this process (for example, the scattering of an electron by an atom, the motion of an electron in an inhomogeneous medium, the emission or absorption of a photon by an electron, the Compton effect, β decay, or the photoelectric effect) occurs in several cases in a time τ which is much shorter than the period of the low-frequency motion of the electron caused by the external field, $2\pi/\omega$. The second stage (stimulated emission or absorption) does not depend on the physical nature of the first stage and is a universal stage, regardless of the process.¹ The problem of stimulated effects of this type can be solved once and for all as the problem of the jarring of an electron in an external field.

In nonrelativistic external fields in which the additional variable velocity of the electron, $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}$ is small in comparison with the speed of light, the probabilities for the stimulated reaction channels are governed by the parameter¹

$$N \sim \frac{|\mathbf{v} \delta \mathbf{p}|}{\hbar \omega}, \tag{68}$$

which is a measure of the rms number of emitted or absorbed photons.

The intensity of the transitions stimulated by the jarring should of course be governed not only by the time interval over which the external perturbation acts on the system but also by the intensity of this perturbation, i.e., its magnitude. It can be seen from (68) that N increases with increasing intensity of the laser beam, since there is an increase in the value of $\tilde{\mathbf{v}}$.

In the limiting cases $N \gg 1$ and $N \le 1$, the jarring problem can be solved by classical and quantum-mechanical methods, respectively. In the Compton effect, with $\delta p = \hbar (\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2)$, and also in jarring due to emission accompanying absorption of a hard photon, with $\delta p = \hbar \mathbf{k}$, the parameter N does not contain Planck's constant. The appearance of satellites in the emission spectrum can thus be explained from the purely classical standpoint for any value of N.

The parameter N is equal in order of magnitude to the ratio of the amplitude of the electron oscillations in the

external field, $\delta R (\delta \mathbf{R} = e\mathbf{E}_0/m\omega^2 \text{ in a laser field})$, to the de Broglie wavelength of the electron calculated from the momentum transfer, $\lambda = \hbar/\delta p$. In this case, in which we can speak in terms of the directions of the quantities $\delta \mathbf{p}$ and $\delta \mathbf{R}$, the jarring parameter is determined by the scalar product

$$N \sim \frac{1}{\hbar} |\delta \mathbf{p} \cdot \delta \mathbf{R}|. \tag{69}$$

Up to this point we had in mind the low-frequency motion of an electron which is caused by an external laser field. We have also stated that the physical reason for the low-frequency motion of the electron which is jarred is inconsequential for our purposes. The fact that a laser field is present is not the crucial consideration; similar motions can occur without laser fields, e.g., in the vibrations of nuclei in molecules or cyrstals. The electronic shells naturally follow the motion of the nuclei in an adiabatic manner, much as the electrons move in a laser wave. The basic distinction between the oscillatory motion of the electronic shell together with the nuclei and the corresponding motion in a laser field is that in the former case the motion is quantized. The problem of stimulated transitions in this case thus reduces to the problem of the excitation of a quantum oscillator which receives a momentum δp in a collision. The uncertainty in the coordinates, δR , is due to the motion of the nuclei, which are involved in vibrations and rotations. In the most complicated situation, in which δR is not a well-defined vector, the value of N can still be estimated from

$$N \sim \frac{1}{h} \delta p \cdot \delta R \sim \frac{\delta p}{\delta p_0}, \qquad (70)$$

where δp_0 is the momentum spread corresponding to the low-frequency motion of the electron.

The essential reason that the parameter N is universal is the fact that the equation for the transition amplitude, (21) or (24), is universal. In by no means all cases, however, does this equation appear explicitly in the problem; it is usually masked by other, faster, processes. This is the case, for example, in problems involving the effect of nuclear vibrations on the cross sections for collisions with the electronic shell of a molecule (see Sec tion 7 below). Separating the electronic and nuclear motions by means of the adiabatic principle, and calculating the electronic part of the amplitude, we can reduce the calculation of the probability for the excitation of vibrations or rotations to a calculation of an amplitude like that in (21) or (24).

In the simplest cases, a study of these effects reduces to a solution of the problem of the jarring of a linear oscillator or rotator. In the case of a simple harmonic oscillator which is subjected to an arbitrary external force, the Schrödinger equation can be solved exactly. The transition amplitudes can also be found exactly (see, for example, Refs. 19–21). If exact equations for the transition probabilities under the influence of an external force are found with the help of the Magnus and Fer expansions, it is possible to draw a close analogy between the exact result and the jarring-theory result and to find the range of applicability of the approximation of zeroth order in $\omega \tau$ (see Section 5 for more details). The model of a simple harmonic oscillator subjected to an arbitrary external force can be used to trace the transformation from the problem of the excitation of a quantum oscillator to the problem of the excitation of a classical oscillator.

For molecules, the model of a simple harmonic oscillator is satisfactory for only the first few vibrational levels, for which the anharmonic component of the nuclear motion is small. For large values of the jarring parameter N, however, higher-lying vibrational levels (with $v \sim N$) are also excited appreciably, and to describe these levels it is necessary to take into account the difference between the harmonic-oscillator potential and the actual interatomic potential. Accordingly, in Section 5 we derive equations for the probabilities for quantum transitions in the jarring of certain nonlinear oscillators.

In collisions involving molecules, an important feature of the total cross section (the total cross section for all the stimulated reaction channels) is the radical change in its interference attributes in that range of scattering parameters in which N reaches values of the order of unity and larger, when the nuclear vibrations are taken into account (Section 7). This interference behavior stems from the fact that the electron density in molecules is distributed around more than one center, but this behavior is found only in the region $N \ll 1$; for other parameters, the collisions are completely smoothed out. In speaking of a change in the interference of the emitted or scattered particles, we can assign the jarring parameter N a simple and graphic meaning: the uncertainty in the phases of the interfering particles which is due to the uncertainty in the nuclear positions.

We have seen that the scattering actually occurs at stationary atoms, whose positions are "smeared out" in space in some manner. The nature of the cross section is governed by the nature of the interference pattern, which depends on the spatial distribution of the electron density, which is turn depends on the positions of the nuclei. The phase relations for the interfering particles play the dominant role in this interference pattern. For simplicity we will speak in terms of scattering by an electron shell which is bound to a single "smeared out" nucleus. The parameter governing the effect of the vibrations should reflect the appearance of uncertainties in the phases of each interfering particle,

$$\delta \varphi_j = \frac{1}{\hbar} \mathbf{p}_j \delta \mathbf{R}, \tag{71}$$

due to the uncertainty in the nuclear position, $\delta \mathbf{R}$ (we are now considering the simplest case, in which $\delta \mathbf{R}$ is a vector).

Let us examine the changes in the phase relations when a particle is scattered from state $|i\rangle$ to state $|f\rangle$, as shown in Fig. 4. The displacement of the nucleus from position A to A' leads to a phase difference between points a_f and a'_f (the phases are measured from the points a_i and a'_i); this difference is

$$\delta \varphi = \delta \varphi_i - \delta \varphi_j = \frac{1}{\hbar} \left(\mathbf{p}_i - \mathbf{p}_j \right) \delta \mathbf{R}.$$
(72)

This parameter which we are seeking, as a measure of the "smearing out" of the nucleus, should evidently be independent of the sign of $\delta\varphi$. From (70) we have



$$N = |\delta \varphi| = \frac{1}{\hbar} |\delta \mathbf{p} \cdot \delta \mathbf{R}|.$$
(73)

Although we have been speaking so far in terms of the effect of nuclear vibrations on the scattering cross sections, similar arguments concerning phase relations can be made to characterize other effects when the spatial uncertainty δR is due to a completely different factor, say the motion of an electron in an atomic shell. In this case δR is no longer a vector, but we can still use an estimate like that in (70):

$$N \equiv |\delta \varphi| \sim \frac{1}{\hbar} \delta p \cdot \delta R.$$
 (74)

A good example, which shows that the simple interference picture is not directly applicable but that the uncertainty in the position of the nucleus (δR) nevertheless affects the total momentum transferred to the nucleus (δp), is the photoelectric effect at a molecular electron. In the absorption of a hard photon (\mathbf{k}, Ω) by an atom which is vibrating in a molecule or in a crystal, the equation for the jarring parameter follows immediately from (70) if we set $\delta \mathbf{p} = \hbar \mathbf{k} - \mathbf{p}$, where \mathbf{p} is the momentum of the photoelectron. This result is found in the plane-wave approximation for the wave function of the emitted electron, with the help of (24).

In discussing the effect of nuclear vibrations on the cross section for the molecular photoelectric effect, we should emphasize that the corrections may not be at all small in this case; instead, they may substantially change the overall behavior of the cross section. A study²² of the relativistic photoelectric effect at the H_2 molecule shows that, as the photon energy $\hbar\Omega$ increases, the number of oscillations in the plot of the photoelectric cross section as a function of the electron emission angle increases without bound if the nuclear vibrations are ignored (this behavior is the primary molecular aspect of the cross section, due to the multicenter nature of the electron cloud). When the vibrations are taken into account correctly, the oscillations in the angular distribution of the photoelectrons are smoothed over an angular range which increases with increasing energy of the incident photon. Thus, it is these vibrations which shape the characteristic angular distribution of the photoelectrons at high energies of the absorbed photons.

The cross section for the photoelectric effect at a molecule oscillates as a function of $\delta \mathbf{p}$ only under the condition $N \ll 1$. The angular dimensions of the oscillation region (the angles between $\delta \mathbf{p}$ and $\delta \mathbf{R}$) decrease with increasing photon energy $\hbar \Omega$, since the boundaries of this oscillation are governed by the condition $N \approx 1$. The nuclei of the molecule can be assumed fixed only if $N \ll 1$. This inequality determines, for example, the range of applicability of a familiar approach in calculations of the photoelectric effect at large molecules: that in which the wave function of the photoelectron is

557 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978

constructed from combinations of the wave functions of the electrons which would be emitted by each of the atoms in the molecule.

5. EXCITATION OF AN OSCILLATOR

a. Simple harmonic oscillator

e h

For all the processes studied in Ref. 1, the expressions for the relative contribution of a satellite as well as the jarring parameter N are universal functions. The reason for this universality is that the entire discussion in Ref. 1 dealt with the jarring of a classical harmonic oscillator: an electron in a light wave. For a fast momentum transfer ($\omega \tau \ll 1$) to such an oscillator, the structure of this fast stage and the nature of the interaction Hamiltonian corresponding to it are unimportant, as mentioned earlier. The result depends only on the vector representing the resultant momentum transfer.

In problems involving nuclear vibrations there is a universality of an analogous type, because we are actually always dealing with the jarring of a quantum oscillator. Let us examine this problem in detail for the case of a harmonic oscillator.

We adopt a one-dimensional model in which the oscillator acquires a momentum δp in a short time. The amplitude for a transition from vibrational state $|v\rangle$ to the state $|v, +n\rangle$ is, according to (24).

$$\mathfrak{M}_{v \to v+n}^{o} = \langle v + n \mid \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \delta p \cdot x\right) \mid v \rangle.$$
(75)

What is the range of applicability of the jarring approximation in (75) for calculating the transition amplitude $\mathfrak{M}_{\nu \to \nu + n}$? To answer this question we must either calculate the corrections of higher orders in $\omega \tau$ by using Eqs. (18)-(20), or we must completely discard the jarring concept and attempt to find the transition amplitude by means of the Magnus expansion in (35) or the Fer expansion in (39).

Fortunately, the latter approach rapidly leads to the exact solution of the problem in which a harmonic oscillator is subjected to an arbitrary external force f(t). The reason is that the operator xf(t), when written in the interaction picture, in which the unperturbed Hamiltonian is the harmonic-oscillator Hamiltonian, has a structure such that the commutator $[\hat{W}(t), \hat{W}(t')]$ is independent of both the coordinates and the momenta. Accordingly, all terms in the Magnus and Fer expansions beginning with the third vanish identically, and the second terms, A_2 and B_2 , lead only to an inconsequential phase factor in the exact amplitude. We shall in future discard these factors, writing

$$\mathfrak{M}_{v \to v+n} = \langle v+n | \exp \left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \hat{W}(t) \right] | v \rangle.$$
(76)

Equation (76) simplifies considerably if we also single out and discard one more unimportant phase factor.

To demonstrate how to do this, we rewrite Eq. (76) by expanding the exponential function in a Taylor series and introducing a sum over the intermediate states $|s_j\rangle$, for computational purposes:

......

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\mathfrak{p}+\mathfrak{p}+n} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(-\frac{i}{k}\right)^k M_k, \qquad (77a)$$

$$M_{h} = \langle v+n \mid \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \ \hat{W}(t) \right\}^{h} \mid v \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{i \leq j \leq h-1}} \left\{ \langle v+n \mid \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \ \hat{W}(t) \mid s_{i} \rangle \dots \langle s_{h-1} \mid \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \ \hat{W}(t) \mid v \rangle \right\}.$$
(77b)

The nonvanishing factors in (77) are

$$\langle l \pm 1 | \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \hat{W}(t) | l \rangle = \langle l \pm 1 | x | l \rangle \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, f(t) \exp(\pm i\omega t)$$
$$= \langle l \pm 1 | x | l \rangle | f(\omega) | \exp(\pm i\Phi).$$
(78)

where ω is the oscillator frequency. In any term in the sum in (77) we can single out the same phase factor $exp(in\Phi)$, as is easily shown. Omitting this factor, we finally find

$$\mathfrak{M}_{v-v+n} = \langle v+n \mid \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar} \mid f(\omega) \mid x\right) \mid v \rangle$$
(79)

$$f(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt f(t) \exp(-i\omega t).$$
(80)

The exact equation for the amplitude $\mathfrak{M}_{\nu \to \nu + n}$ thus differs from the amplitude in the zeroth order in $\omega \tau$,

 $\mathfrak{M}_{\nu \to \nu+n}^{\mathfrak{o}}$, only in that the modulus of the Fourier component $|f(\omega)|$ is replaced by the momentum transfer δp , so that calculations from Eqs. (75) and (79) are identical. Substituting into (79) the wave functions of the unperturbed harmonic oscillator, we find [cf. Refs. (19)-(21)]

$$\mathfrak{M}_{v \to v+n} = \sqrt{\frac{v!}{(v+n)!}} \left(\frac{\mathscr{N}^{*}}{2}\right)^{n/2} \exp\left(-\frac{\mathscr{N}^{*}}{4}\right) L_{v}^{n}\left(\frac{\mathscr{N}^{*}}{2}\right), \qquad (81)$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{\mathbf{0}} = \frac{|f(\mathbf{0})|}{\sqrt{m_0 \hbar \omega}},\tag{82}$$

where $L_v^n(z)$ are the Laguerre polynomials, and m_n is the oscillator mass.

In the zeroth order approximation in $\omega \tau$, $\mathfrak{M}^{0}_{v \to v+v}$ differs from $\mathfrak{M}_{\nu \to \nu + n}$ only in that \mathcal{N}_0 is replaced by the jarring parameter

$$N_0 = \frac{\delta p}{\sqrt{m_0 \hbar \omega}} . \tag{83}$$

The subscript on N_0 (as well as that on \mathcal{N}_0) means that if we write the jarring parameter as in (70) the corresponding oscillation amplitude $\delta R_0 \equiv \sqrt{\langle \delta R^2 \rangle_0}$ refers to the ground state (v=0) of the oscillator. For an arbitrary state we would have to set

$$N_{v} = \frac{1}{h} \sqrt{2} \, \delta p \, \sqrt{\langle \delta R^{2} \rangle_{v}} = \delta p \, \sqrt{\frac{2v+1}{m_{0} \hbar \omega}} \,. \tag{84}$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{v}^{*} = |f(\omega)| \sqrt{\frac{2\nu+1}{m_{o}\hbar\omega}}.$$
(85)

All these conclusions remain valid for the stimulated transitions in a classical oscillator. The classical limit corresponds to infinitely large values of v in Eqs. (81), (84), and (85). The amplitude in (81) is transformed to the limit $v \gg 1$ by using the expansions²³

$$z^{n/2}e^{-z/2}L_{\nu}^{n}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(\nu+n+1)}{\nu l} \left(\nu + \frac{n+1}{2}\right)^{-u/2} \times \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} a_{l} \left(\frac{z}{4\nu+2n+2}\right)^{l/2} J_{n+l} \left(\sqrt{z(4\nu+2n+2)}\right),$$
(86)

where $a_0 = 1$, $a_1 = 0$, $a_2 = (n+1)/2$, and the other coefficients are found from the recurrence relation

$$(l+2) a_{l+2} = (l+n+1) a_l - (2v+n+1) a_{l-1}, \quad l=1, 2, \ldots$$

For values of N/v which are not too small, and for

558 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978 large values of v, the amplitude $\mathfrak{M}_{v \to v+\pi}$ can thus be written as a combination of Bessel functions with different indices, and in the limit $v \rightarrow \infty$ we have

$$\mathfrak{M}_{v \to v+n} \to J_n (\mathscr{N}). \tag{87}$$

Appearing in (87) is the classical value of the parameter N,

$$\mathscr{N} = \sqrt{2v_{\circ}} \mathscr{V}_{0}, \tag{88}$$

which, together with the corresponding classical value of the jarring parameter N (for which the equation is precisely the same as that derived in Ref. 1), is found from (84) and (85) by taking the limit $v \rightarrow \infty$.

The problem of determining the range of applicability of the zeroth order approximation in $\omega \tau$ reduces to comparing the parameters \mathcal{N} and N in this case. For small values $\omega \tau$, the corrections in \mathcal{N} to the value of N are strongly governed by the time variation f(t). As a rule, these corrections are of the order of $(\omega \tau)^2$ or smaller [see the discussion in the text regarding Eqs. (26)-(29)]. However, if the tails in the f(t) distribution are important, as they are in the case of a Lorentzian pulse, the corrections become comparable to $\omega \tau$ and sometimes even larger.

b. Parametric "Jarring" of a harmonic oscillator at an arbitrary temperature

Let us assume that there are changes in the mass, m_i $-m_f$, and in the frequency, $\omega_i - \omega_f$, in a very short time $\tau (\omega \tau \ll 1)$ (corresponding, for example, to the absorption or emission of a neutron by a vibrating light nucleus in a molecule or to the β decay of such a nucleus). The probability of finding the oscillator in a particular quantum state $|f\rangle$ after this parametric jarring is given for an arbitrary temperature by Eq. (46).

This problem can be solved completely for the jarring of a harmonic oscillator. The quantum-density operator for a one-dimensional harmonic oscillator, written in the x representation, is

$$=\sqrt{\frac{m\omega}{2\pi\hbar \sinh (\hbar\omega/T)}} \exp\left[-(x^2+x'^2)\frac{m\omega}{2\hbar} \coth \frac{\hbar\omega}{T} + xx'\frac{m\omega}{\hbar \sinh (\hbar\omega/T)}\right],$$
(89)

where *m* and ω are the oscillator mass and frequency, and T is the temperature (in energy units).

Using this equation, we obtain the probabilities for finding the oscillator in any of the even states,

$$w_{2n} = \frac{(2n)!}{2^{2n}(n!)^3} \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{1/2} \left(1 - \frac{c}{a^2}\right)^n s^{-2n-1/2} \times (s-1)^n (s-\lambda)^n F\left(-n, -n; \frac{1}{2}; -\frac{\lambda}{(s-1)(s-\lambda)}\right),$$

and in any of the odd states (90)

and in any of the odd states.

The subscripts on w correspond to the usual indexing of the oscillator levels; F is the hypergeometric function; $n = 0, 1, \ldots$

$$a^{2} = \frac{c}{2} + \frac{m_{i}\omega_{i}}{2\hbar} \coth \frac{\hbar\omega_{i}}{T}, \quad ab = \frac{m_{i}\omega_{i}}{2\hbar \sin (\hbar\omega_{i}/T)},$$
$$c = \frac{m_{f}\omega_{f}}{\hbar}, \quad s = \frac{a^{2}-b^{2}}{c}, \quad \lambda = \frac{b^{2}}{a^{2}-c}.$$

In particular, the probabilities for the filling the ground and first excited states after jarring are

$$w_{0} = \sqrt[]{\frac{bc}{a(a^{2}-b^{2})}},$$
(92)

$$w_{1} = w_{0}^{3}.$$
(93)

c. Anharmonic oscillators

With the ultimate goal of applying the problem of the jarring of an oscillator to real molecular systems, we will briefly discuss some particular features of stimulated transitions when the nuclear vibrations are anharmonic. We mentioned above that the anharmonicity must definitely be taken into account at large values of the jarring parameter N, at which the high-lying vibrational levels are excited efficiently.

The most important distinguishing feature of the real interatomic potential U(R) (for definiteness, we assume a diatomic molecule) is that it is asymmetric with respect to the equilibrium nuclear separation R_0 . To avoid "losing" this asymmetry, we must study the expansion of U(r) in powers of 1/R or $(R - R_0)/R$ instead of in the traditional power series in $(R - R_0)$ (see, for example, Refs. 24-27).

Using even the simple potential

$$U(R) = U_0 - \frac{\alpha}{R} + \frac{\beta}{R^2}, \quad \alpha, \beta > 0,$$
(94)

we can take into account the anharmonicity of the vibrations in molecules relatively easily. It is also important to note that the Schrödinger equation with a central potential like that in (94) can be solved exactly for arbitrary vibrational—rotational states [by changing the constants in (94), we can convert this problem to the hydrogenatom problem]. By using potential (94) we can thus rigorously analyze the vibrational—rotational interaction in a molecule, while this could not be done on the basis of, for example, the harmonic potential.

As in subsection a), we consider the excitation resulting from the jarring of a one-dimensional oscillator with a potential energy of the type in (94):

$$U(x) = U_0 - \frac{\alpha}{x} + \frac{\beta}{x^2}, \quad \alpha, \beta > 0.$$
(95)

We denote the quantum states of the discrete spectrum of this oscillator by the integers v = 0, 1, 2, ... The corresponding energies are

$$E_{v} = U_{0} - \frac{\hbar^{2} q^{2}}{2m_{0}}, \quad q = \frac{am_{0}}{\hbar^{2}(a+v)}, \quad a = \frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2\beta m_{0}}{\hbar^{2}}}, \quad (96)$$

and the corresponding wave functions are

$$\Psi_{v}(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(2a)} \sqrt{\frac{q\Gamma(v+2a)}{v!(v+a)}} (2qx)^{a} e^{-qx} F(-v, 2a; 2qx), \qquad (97)$$

where F is the degenerate hypergeometric function.

The "smearing out" of the ground-state momenta of the oscillator in (95)-(97) is of the order of $\hbar q$. In the problem of the excitation of this oscillator as momentum is rapidly transferred to it a jarring parameter like that in (70) or (83) should accordingly arise:

$$N_0 = \frac{o_P}{\hbar q} \,. \tag{98}$$

In fact, the probability for excitation involving the 0 - v transition is calculated from Eq. (24) to be

$$|\mathfrak{M}_{0+\nu}|^2 = \frac{a}{a+\nu} \frac{\Gamma(\nu+2a)}{\nu!\Gamma(2a)} [4a(a+\nu)]^{2a+1} \frac{a^{4}N_{0}^{3}(\nu^{2}+a^{3}N_{0}^{3})^{\nu-1}}{[(2a+\nu)^{3}+a^{3}N_{0}^{3}]^{\nu+2a+1}}.$$
 (99)

We can also find a simple equation for the probability that the oscillator of (95)-(97) does not become excited when it is jarred:

$$|\mathfrak{M}_{0+0}|^2 = \left(1 + \frac{N_0^2}{4}\right)^{-2a-1}.$$
 (100)

By way of comparison we note that the probability for this event in the case of a harmonic oscillator decreases exponentially with increasing N [see Eq. (81)], while in the case of the one-dimensional Morse potential

$$U(x) = U_0 \left[\exp\left(-\frac{2x}{x_0}\right) - 2\exp\left(-\frac{x}{x_0}\right) \right]$$
(101)

it is given by

۰.

$$|\mathfrak{M}_{n\to 0}|^{2} = \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[1 + \left(\frac{N_{0}}{n+\epsilon-1} \right)^{2} \right]^{-1}, \qquad (102)$$

$$N_0 = \frac{1}{\hbar} \,\delta p \cdot x_0, \quad \varepsilon = \frac{1}{\hbar} \,x_0 \,\sqrt{2m_0 U_0} \,. \tag{103}$$

It can be seen from these examples that the probabilities for the stimulated transitions in very different situations are governed by the same jarring parameter, given in (70). This jarring parameter is thus a principal characteristic of these problems.

6. "JARRING" OF ELECTRONS FROM ATOMIC SHELLS

a. Collisions of neutrons with light atoms

Apparently the first direct application of the jarring concept in calculating the amplitudes of quantum transitions was in the problem of the ionization of atoms in collisions with neutrons.²⁸ If the atomic nucleus acquires a momentum hq in a short time τ , the transition amplitude in zeroth order in $\omega\tau$ can be calculated from Eq. (24) (here $\hbar\omega$ is a typical electron energy).

Of practical interest are the ionization probability, integrated over the momentum directions of the emitted electron,

$$\frac{d\omega}{dp} = (2\pi\hbar)^{-3} \int d\left(\frac{\mathbf{p}}{p}\right) p^2 |\langle f | e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}} | i \rangle|^2, \tag{104}$$

and the total ionization probability for a given q,

$$w(q) = \int dp \, \frac{dw}{dp}.$$
 (105)

If the question is posed in such a manner that we can also introduce some distribution function g(q) [the quantity g(q)dq determines the probability for the transfer to the nucleus of a momentum between q and q+dq], then the ionization probability is

$$w = \int dq g(q) w(q). \tag{106}$$

For a hydrogen-like atom, in which case the electrons are jarred from the K or L shell, the probability dw/dpcan be found analytically. The jarring parameter, which is a measure of the transition probability in this problem, can be defined as follows:

$$N \equiv \frac{nq}{\eta} = \frac{nq\hbar^2}{Ze^2m} , \qquad (107)$$

where *n* is the principle quantum number of the shell from which the electron is ejected, *Z* is the nuclear charge, and *m* is the electron mass. We also introduce the dimensionless ratio $\gamma \equiv np/\hbar\eta$. The probability for the jarring of an electron from the *K* shell is²⁸

$$\frac{dw_{K}}{d\gamma} = \frac{2^{8} \cdot N^{2} \gamma}{3[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi}{\gamma}/\gamma\right)]} \frac{3N^{2} + \gamma^{2} + 1}{(\alpha^{2} + 4\gamma^{2})^{3}} \exp\left(-\frac{2}{\gamma} \tan^{-1}\frac{2\gamma}{\alpha}\right), \quad (108)$$

where $\alpha = N^2 - \gamma^2 + 1$, and the function \tan^{-1} is defined to



FIG. 5. Spectrum of electrons "jarred" from the K shell.

be $\pi + \tan^{-1}(x)$ for x < 0 or $\tan^{-1}(x)$ for $x \ge 0$.

Figure 5 shows the spectra of electrons jarred from the K shell for fixed values of N. Figure 6 shows the total probability as a function of N.

The probabilities for the jarring of electrons from any of the L subshells are found from the general equation (it is shown below that the mathematical problem of calculating dw/dp is equivalent to the problem of calculating the cross section for the nonrelativistic Compton effect²⁹⁻³¹)

$$\frac{\frac{dw_L}{d\gamma}}{=\frac{2^{11}N^2\gamma}{15x^4}}S\frac{\exp\left[-\frac{(4/\gamma)}{1-\exp\left(-4\pi/\gamma\right)}\frac{\tan^2}{(2\gamma/\alpha)}\right]}{1-\exp\left(-4\pi/\gamma\right)},$$
(109)
 $\varkappa = (1+\gamma^2+N^2)^2 - 4N^2\gamma^2.$

The equations for the function S in (109) are different for the different subshells. For the 2S state, for example,

$$S_{1S} = 5x^{2} (3N^{2} + \gamma^{2} + 4) -2^{4} 15xN^{2} (N^{2} + 1) +2^{8}N^{2} (15N^{4} + 10N^{2} + 2\gamma^{4} +5\gamma^{2} - 5N^{2}\gamma^{2} + 3).$$
(110)

For the jarring of an electron initially in the $2P^{(\pm 1)}$ level, we have

$$S_{2P}^{(\pm 1)} = 4\varkappa \left(\gamma^2 + 4\right) \left(5N^2 + \gamma^2 + 1\right). \tag{111}$$

Finally, for a $2P^{(0)}$ electron, we have $(\beta = \gamma^2 - N^2 + 1)$

$$S_{2P}^{(0)} = \beta^{2} (7\gamma^{4} + 40\gamma^{2} + 48) + \frac{5}{2} \beta (\gamma^{2} + 4) (4\beta (\gamma^{2} + 4N^{2}) - \varkappa) + \frac{15}{16} [4\beta (\gamma^{2} - 4N^{2}) - \varkappa]^{2}.$$
(112)

The results calculated from Eqs. (109)-(112) are shown in Figs. 7 and 8. The cases in which electrons are jarred from the K and L shells can be distinguished experimentally by detecting the radiation emitted by the excited ions which are formed when the electrons are jarred from the different inner shells.

b. Compton effect at a weakly bound electron

In the scattering of a photon by a bound electron, a jarring situation arises if the electron energies in the



FIG. 6. Probability for "jarring" of electrons from the K shell.



FIG. 7. Spectra of electrons "jarred" from the K and L shells $(q = \eta/2)$.

initial and final states are small in comparison with the photon energy $\hbar\Omega$. In this case the jarring time is estimated as follows: The absorption of the incident photon leads to a deviation $\Delta E \sim \hbar\Omega$ from energy conservation, so the scattered photon must be emitted in a time $\tau \sim \hbar/\Delta E \sim 1/\Omega$.

That the elastic scattering of x rays by light atoms is a jarring process was emphasized by Trammell³² in connection with the difference in the Debye-Waller factors for the resonant and nonresonant scattering of radiation in crystals. For the case in which the energies of the incident photons are not relativistic, and the corrections of second order in $\omega \tau$ and $\hbar \Omega/mc^2$ are negligible, the cross section for the Compton effect can always be written in the nonrelativistic jarring form for any scattering channels, accompanied by both bound-bound and boundfree transitions of the electron.³⁰ As an example, for the ionization channel involving the ejection of an electron from an arbitrary *nS* shell, in first order in $\omega \tau$ and $\hbar \Omega/mc^2$, we have the usual result [in Eqs. (113)-(116), we use the relativistic units, with $\hbar = c = 1$]:

$$\frac{d^3\sigma_S}{dt\,d\Omega_2\,d\sigma_2} = \frac{r_e^2(1+\cos^2\theta)}{8\pi^2} \frac{\Omega_2}{\Omega_1} pm |\langle f|e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}}|i\rangle|^2.$$
(113)

Here $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2$, $\mathbf{k}_{1,2}$ are the wave vectors of the incident and scattered photons, $\Omega_{1,2}$ are their frequencies, θ is the scattering angle, **p** is the momentum of the emitted electron, $\mathbf{pk} = pkt$, $\mathbf{r}_e = e^2/mc^2$ is the classical radius of the electron, $d\theta_2$ is the element of solid angle containing the vector \mathbf{k}_2 , and the wave function of the final state of the electron is assumed normalized to a unit volume. For the Compton effect at nP electrons, it is convenient to write³⁰

$$\frac{d^{3}\sigma_{P}}{dt \, \Omega_{2} \, do_{2}} = \frac{r_{e}^{2} \left(1 + \cos^{2} \theta\right)}{8\pi^{2}} \, pm \, \frac{\Omega_{2}}{\Omega_{1}} \, \sum_{j=1}^{3} \rho_{j}^{2} \, |M_{j}|^{2}, \tag{114}$$

$$\mathbf{M} = \langle f \mid e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}} \frac{\mathbf{r}}{r} \mid R_P \rangle. \tag{115}$$

For subshells with different angular momenta and different angular-momentum projections $(nP_{1/2}, nP_{3/2,1/2}, nP_{3/2,1/2})$, the vector ρ has the components (1, 1, 1),



FIG. 8. Probabilities for "jarring" of electrons from the K and L shells.



FIG. 9. Angular distributions of scattered photons in the Compton effect at a free electron at rest (solid curves); other curves-the same, for the electrons of the K and L shells of the carbon atom $(Z_N=6)$. The energy of the incident photon is 20 keV.

 $(1/\sqrt{2})(-1, -1, 2)$, and $\sqrt{3/2}(1, -1, 0)$, respectively. Here R_{p} is the radial part of the wave function.

To calculate the cross sections for the Compton effect at K and L electrons from Eqs. (113)-(115), we can clearly use the results of (108)-(112). For example, in the case of $a2P_{3/2,3/2}$ electron we must use Eq. (109), with Eq. (111) for S. For electrons from the $2P_{1/2}$ and $2P_{3/2,1/2}$ subshells, we must use (109) with the combinations $(2S_{2P}^{(\pm 1)} + S_{2P}^{(0)}/3)$ and $(S_{2P}^{(\pm 1)} + 2S_{2P}^{(0)}/3)$. As an example, Fig. 9 shows the angular distributions of the Compton photons in scattering by free electrons and by K and L electrons.

The states of the electrons in the 2P shell could of course also be classified according to the usual nonrelativistic scheme, as in the preceding section. In this classification, the Compton cross sections are directly related to the probabilities for the jarring of electrons from the K and L shells, in (108)-(112):

$$\frac{d^2\sigma}{d\Omega_2 d\sigma_2} = r_e^2 (1 + \cos^2\theta) \frac{\Omega_2}{\Omega_1} \frac{m}{p} \frac{dw}{dp} .$$
(116)

Figure 10 shows the angular distributions of the Compton photons found by integrating (116). The interpretation of the scattering as a jarring process has a special heuristic value for the range of collision parameters such that

$$\alpha Zmc^2 \gg \hbar\Omega \gg |E_b|$$

(α is the fine-structure constant, Z is the effective nuclear charge, and E_b is the electron binding energy in



FIG. 10. The same as in Fig. 9, according to an integration of Eq. (116).

the atom). For this energy range, the Compton cross section is strongly affected by the interaction of the electron with the ion core in the final state, since the emitted electron has a relatively small momentum, on the average. As a rule, there is no hope of taking this effect into account exactly, but this is not the case in nonrelativistic calculations of the cross sections for ionization involving the ejection of electrons from inner shells. We will now show how these exact calculations can be used to test the jarring approach: a principal characteristic of the angular distribution of the scattered photons in the Compton effect at a bound electron should again by a jarring parameter N, chosen in an appropriate manner. The behavior found here remains the same in other, more comlicated situations, which are not amenable to a rigorous analysis.

× 6

In the limit of an infinitely heavy nucleus, momentum is not conserved in the Compton effect at a bound electron, and we are dealing with precisely that case in which the quantity δp , which is incorporated in the corresponding jarring parameter, becomes indefinite in the calculation of the amplitude in (24). Nevertheless, in the Compton effect it is possible^{30,41} to introduce a jarring parameter of the type in (70),

$$N \sim \delta k \cdot \delta R \sim \frac{\hbar \delta k}{\delta p_0}, \qquad (117)$$

if we take into account the fact that the Compton line for a weakly bound electron is relatively narrow $[\hbar \delta k \text{ in Eq.} (117)$ is understood as the rms value of the momentum transferred to the electron in the scattering].

It is simplest to seek δk in first order in αZ , using the Compton equation for this purpose:

$$\Omega_1 = b\Omega_2, \quad b = 1 + \frac{h\Omega_1}{mc^2} (1 - \cos \theta).$$
(118)

For example, if the electron initially occupies an atomic shell with the principal quantum number n, we can conveniently write the result of the calculations for any energy of the incident photon, $\hbar\Omega_1$, in the following form [cf. Refs. 30 and 31 and Eq. (107)]:

$$N = \frac{n\hbar\Omega_1 \sqrt{1 + b^2 - 2b\cos\theta}}{\alpha Zmc^2 b}.$$
 (119)

The magnitude of the parameter N is governed by the difference between the angular distribution of the scattered photons in the case of a bound electron and the Klein-Nishina distribution:

$$\frac{d\sigma_{K-N}}{d\sigma_2} = \frac{r_e^2}{2b^2} \left(b + \frac{1}{b} - \sin^2 \theta \right).$$
(120)

As shown in Refs. 30 and 31, the ratio of the cross section for the Compton effect at a free electron, $d\sigma_b/d\sigma_2$, to the Klein-Nishina cross section in (120) is in fact a convenient measure of the parameter in (119). This conclusion is in complete agreement with the jarring interpretation of the scattering process. All the diagrams like Figs. 9 and 10 can be described by a few curves for the ratio $d\sigma_b/d\sigma_{K-N}$, depending on the value of the jarring parameter N (see Figs. 11-15). The reason for this universality is that the cross section is governed primarily by the peak of the Compton line, whose width becomes smaller as $\omega\tau$ becomes smaller. Here we are seeing the profound analogy between the behavior of

 $d\sigma_{k'}/d\sigma_{k'-k'}$ and w [see subsection a)] as functions of the corresponding jarring parameters, in (119) and (107).

The jarring approach is convenient for finding a systematic arrangement for the experimental data on the scattering of hard γ rays by atomic electrons. The theory for the angular distribution of Compton photons for relativistic γ -ray energies ($\hbar \Omega \ge mc^2$) is extremely fragmentary and unreliable (the best discussion of this question is in Ref. 33). Even numerical estimates are very laborious,³³ so all the situations which arise experimentally cannot be analyzed, and general aspects of the behavior cannot be discerned.

The jarring interpretation of Compton scattering by weakly bound electrons, in contrast, yields the most important aspect of the behavior: that the parameter N is a measure of the cross section. The product $\omega\tau$ must of course be small. Figures 11 and 12 show the experimental values of the ratio $d\sigma_b/d\sigma_{K-N}$ as a function of N, found from data on the scattering of γ rays with energies between 279 keV and 1.12 MeV by the K shell of Sn and Sm atoms, through angles θ between 20° and 160°. In the calculations of N from Eq. (119), here and below, the screening of the nuclear field by other electrons is taken into account by the Slater rules. The theoretical curves in Figs. 11 and 12 are taken from Ref. 31; they correspond to nonrelativistic γ -ray energies, $\hbar\Omega \ll mc^2$.

The theoretical curve required for analyzing the experimental data on scattering by the filled L shell can be found from the results for other subshells. Yudin³⁰ has studied the behavior of $d\sigma_b/d\sigma_{K-N}$ as a function of the jarring parameter N for scattering by subshells, classified in accordance with relativistic theory. The results are shown in Fig. 13. The corresponding results for the nonrelativistic level scheme can be found in a straightforward manner (Fig. 14). The average Compton cross section, divided by the Klein–Nishina cross section, is shown in Fig. 15, along with experimental data on the Compton effect at Pb and Th atoms.

On the basis of Figs. 11, 12, and 15, we can state that the nonrelativistic theoretical curves generally agree well with the experimental results. There are some discrepancies, caused by several factors. We are concerned here primarily with those factors which affect the theoretical calculations.

First, the inequality $\omega \tau \ll 1$ is barely satisfied, so it would improve the situation to take into account the higher-order corrections to the zeroth-order jarring approx-



FIG. 11. Compton effect at the K shell of Sn $(Z_N = 50)$. Experimental data: 1) Ref. 34; 2) Ref. 35; 3) Ref. 36; 4) Ref. 37; 5) Ref. 38.

562 Sov. Phys. Usp. 21(7), July 1978



FIG. 12. Compton effect at the K shell of Sm $(Z_N=62)$. Experimental data: 1) Ref. 39; 2) Ref. 36; 3) Ref. 40; 4) Ref. 41; 5) Ref. 38.

imation. Furthermore, we recall that Eq. (119) for the jarring parameter is derived in the first approximation in $\alpha Z/n$ (the results for the approximations of zeroth and first order in $\alpha Z/n$ are the same). The higher-order corrections can be taken into account in the following manner.

The scattering of a photon by a weakly bound electron at a large value of N can be interpreted as scattering by a free electron which has precisely the same momentum distribution as the bound electron. The cross section for the Compton effect at a free electron which is moving with the 4-momentum (E, p) is

$$\frac{d\sigma_{free}}{d\sigma_{2}} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{r_{e}mc^{2}}{a+(b-1)mc^{2}} \right]^{2} \\ \times \left\{ \frac{b-1}{a}mc^{2} + \left[1 - \frac{m^{2}c^{4}(1-\cos\theta)}{a(E-pc\cos\theta_{1})} \right]^{2} + \frac{a}{a+(b-1)mc^{2}} \right\},$$
(121)

where $a = E - pc \cos \theta_2$ [the quantity b is defined in (118)], and $\theta_{1,2}$ are the angles between **p** and the wave vectors of the incident and scattered photons, $k_{1,2}$. The angular distribution of the γ rays in the Compton effect at the bound electron should be compared with the cross section in (121), averaged in the appropriate manner, rather than with the Klein-Nishina cross section. It would also be a simple matter to refine the parameter N to take into account the corrections of the various orders in $\alpha Z/n$ in the equation for δk .

However, it is not necessary to pursue this point theoretically at present, because of the large errors and the discrepancies found even in identical measurements by different investigators. The difficulties confronting the



FIG. 13. Ratio of the cross section for the Compton effect at L-shell electrons to the Klein-Nishina cross section as a function of the "jarring" parameter N.



FIG. 14. Ratio of the cross section for the Compton effect at L-shell electrons to the Klein-Nishina cross section as a function of N.

experimentalists are related to the complex nature of the measurements of the cross sections for ionization events involving the ejection of an electron from a specific atomic shell. The lifetime of the vacancy left in an inner shell when an electron is ejected is $t \sim 10^{-16}$ sec. This vacancy is then filled by an electron from an outer shell, and the x ray emitted in the process is measured in coincidence with the scattered γ ray. Unfortunately, it is difficult to arange these coincidence measurements, since some of the γ rays and some of the x rays are absorbed in the target, and there is also the additional background bremsstrahlung of the Compton electrons. These and other side effects make the measured ratio $d\sigma_{b}/d\sigma_{K-N}$ very sensitive to the shape of the sample, the scattering angle, and other specific experimental conditions [the errors reported by many investigators, shown in Figs. 11, 12, and 15, frequently refer only to the counting of detected events; the experimental angular distributions of γ rays in scattering by A1 ($Z_N = 13$) or Be $(Z_N = 4)$ are used as $d\sigma_{K-N}/do_2$].

7. OTHER COLLISION PROCESSES

a. Emission from a nucleus in a molecule or crystal

Stimulated transitions in processes involving a vibrating atom occur in collisions not only with an electronic shell but also with the nucleus itself. Familiar examples are the absorption, emission, and scattering of neutrons by atoms in a crystal lattice⁴⁴ or in a molecule.⁴⁵

Far more important in practice than the capture of neutrons by atoms in a crystal is the Mössbauer effect, which is an equivalent effect from the theoretical standpoint.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ In reviewing the basic features of this effect, we distinguish among three very different time intervals: 1. the collision time τ , which is the time required for an element of the wave of length $l \sim c/\Omega$ to traverse the nucleus, whose dimensions are far smaller than l in all



FIG. 15. Compton effect at the L -shell of Pb $(Z_N = 82)$ and Th $(Z_N = 90)$. Experimental data: 1) Ref. 42; 2) Ref. 43.

real cases. Thus $\tau \sim 1/\Omega$; 2. the characteristic time of the motion of the nuclei in the molecule or the solid, $1/\omega$; 3. the lifetime of the excited state, $T \sim 1/\Gamma$, where Γ is the Mössbauer line width. The average times T usually lie between 10^{-7} and 10^{-9} sec.

з h

It is not difficult to establish the relations among these times:

$$\tau \ll \frac{1}{m} \ll T. \tag{122}$$

The first inequality in (122) means that the emission process can be treated as a jarring process with respect to the slow nuclear motions. In this case the parameter N is

$$N = |\mathbf{k} \delta \mathbf{R}| \sim k \delta R. \tag{123}$$

Since this parameter does not contain Planck's constant, it is of purely classical origin.¹ The probability for the emission from a vibrating nucleus, with any change whatever in the vibrational state of this nucleus, is determined in the harmonic approximation from the results in (81) and (83) for quantum vibrations or (87) for classical vibrations.

The second inequality in (122) figures in the resonant scattering of the Mössbauer radiation. The long lifetime of the nucleus in its excited state, in comparison with τ and $1/\omega$, means that two steps of the process—the resonant absorption and the recoilless emission—can be treated as absolutely independent. As a result, the probability for resonant scattering is proportional to the product of the probabilities for the transitions due to the two independent jarrings. For a crystal, this probability is proportional to the product of two Lamb-Mössbauer factors, which contain the jarring parameters $N_1 = |\mathbf{k}_1 \delta \mathbf{R}|$ and $N_2 = |\mathbf{k}_2 \delta \mathbf{R}|$.

Up to this point we have been talking about the "natural" vibrations of γ -emitting nuclei in molecules or crystals and the appearance of satellites in the γ spectrum against the background of this relatively slow motion. Recent advances in the field of lasers are drawing attention to the effect of strong fields on the pumping of atomic and molecular systems, usually through stimulated internal transitions under the influence of a resonant field. It is thus pertinenet to examine jarring transitions against the background of the stimulated slow motions of a quantum system as it is pumped in an external field.

For selective pumping with, say, an increase in δR for a certain type of motion, we can arrange a situation such that the corresponding jarring parameter $N \sim \delta p \delta R / \hbar$ and the transition probabilities undergo changes far greater than in the absence of the laser field. It is thus possible to distinguish some particular channel in a narrow spectral interval (the width of this interval is governed by the resonant-excitation conditions, in particular, the wavelength spread of the laser beam). Noteworthy among the studies in this direction are Refs. 49 and 50.

b. Collisions of molecules with electrons and heavy particles

Among the stimulated effects in a laser field, the one that has been studied in greatest detail is "stimulated bremsstrahlung,"^{1,51} which is an emission or absorption of laser photons which is stimulated by electron scattering. A direct analog of stimulated bremsstrahlung is quasielastic scattering of an electron by a vibrating atom. If the atomic vibrations are classical, this scattering is very similar in nature to stimulated bremsstrahlung. In most cases, on the other hand, there is a quantum analog of stimulated bremsstrahlung, in which the nucleus is in quantized motion, for example, in a molecule.

However, there is also an important distinction between these processes: in the quantum case, the fact that the incident electron is identical to the target electrons comes into play. The presence of δp in (24) does not prove that the amplitude depends only on the momentum transfer. Differences should evidently be expected in collisions of atoms or molecules with electrons in those cases when exchange effects must be taken into account in calculating the cross sections.

On the example of electron scattering by the K shell of a homonuclear diatomic molecule it can be shown that when the exchange interactions are taken into account the influence of the nuclear vibrations (for, say, only those scattering channels which involve the excitation of vibrations) is characterized not simply by the single parameter N, which contains the momentum transfer, but also by three other parameters, which contain instead of δp , the combinations p_1 , p_2 , and $p_1 + p_2$ ($p_{1,2}$ are the momenta of the incident and scattered electrons).

To see how the jarring parameter N arises in the most general case of a collision of a molecule with a fast charged particle, we assume that the fast particle, with charge Ze, mass m, and momentum \mathbf{p}_0 , collides with the target molecule and ionizes it. We denote the energy and momentum of the ejected electron by E_2 and \mathbf{p}_2 , while the momentum of the scattered particle in the final state is \mathbf{p}_1 . The triply differential cross section for this process is written as follows in the first Born approximation⁵²:

$$\frac{d^{3}\sigma}{dE_{2}\,do_{1}\,do_{2}} = \frac{p_{1}}{p_{0}} \left(\frac{2mZe}{p^{2}}\right)^{2} \langle \Psi_{f} | \sum_{j} e^{i\mathbf{p}\mathbf{r}_{j}/\hbar} | \Psi_{t} \rangle |^{2}, \qquad (124)$$

where Ψ_i and Ψ_j are the wave functions of the initial and final states of the scattering system, $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}_1 - \mathbf{p}_2$, $do_{1,2}$ are the elements of solid angle containing the vectors $\mathbf{p}_{1,2}$, and the summation over *j* is carried out over all the electrons in the molecule.

In the adiabatic approximation we have

$$\Psi = \Phi(r, R) \Lambda(Q) \Theta(\theta), \qquad (125)$$

where $\Phi(r, R)$, $\Lambda(q)$, and $\Theta(\theta)$ are the electronic, vibrational, and rotational wave functions, respectively; rand R represent the sets of electronic and nuclear coordinates; Q represents the coordinates of the normal vibrational modes; and θ represents the Euler angles, which define the spatial orientation of the molecule. The electronic coordinate wave function of the final state is written as a linear combination of products of the type $\Phi_{\rm hon}\Phi(\mathbf{p}_2)$.

We are generally interested in the cross section summed over all the final states of the resulting ion:

$$\frac{d^3\sigma}{dE_2 do_1 do_2} \approx \frac{p_1}{p_0} \left(\frac{2mZe}{p^2}\right)^2 \langle \Lambda_i \Theta_i \mid j \mathscr{M} \mid 2 \mid \Lambda_i \Theta_i \mid \rangle, \qquad (126)$$

$$\mathscr{A}_{\ell}(R) = \langle \Phi(\mathbf{p}_{2}) | \sum_{j} e^{i\mathbf{p}_{1} j/R} | \Phi_{i}(r, R) \rangle.$$
(127)

The notation $\mathcal{M}(R)$ is adopted to emphasize that the matrix elements between the electronic states depends on the set of nuclear coordinates. The variation with R in (127) is governed by the vector $\delta \mathbf{p} \approx \mathbf{p}_0 - \mathbf{p}_1 - \mathbf{p}_2$, so the characteristic parameter

$$N \sim \frac{1}{\hbar} \delta p \cdot \delta R$$

appears in the integration over the vibrational coordinates in (126).

Let us consider the particular case of channels involving the excitation of vibrations in a diatomic molecule without a change in electronic state; we assume that the axis of the molecule is oriented along a definite direction. The cross section for a collision involving the transition of the molecule to a fixed vibrational state, $|v\rangle - |v+n\rangle$, incorporates the characteristic two-center factor

$$\chi = 1 + (\delta_{n, 2l} - \delta_{n, 2l+1}) \cos (qR_0), \qquad (128)$$

where $\hbar q$ is the momentum transferred to the nuclei, and \mathbf{R}_0 is the equilibrium nuclear separation. The cross section for a collision involving the transition from $|v\rangle$ to all vibrational states is given in the harmonic approximation by

$$d\sigma^{v} = d\sigma_{0} \left[1 + e^{-N^{2}} L_{v} \left(2N^{2} \right) \cos \left(q R_{0} \right) \right].$$
 (129)

The oscillatory term in the cross section in (129) (the quantity added to unity in brackets) is peculiar to molecules and does not arise in the case of scattering by atoms. It is seen from (129) that this specific feature of the molecular case vanishes completely at large values of the jarring parameter. Then there is absolutely no manifestation of the multicenter nature of the electron distribution in the molecule.

The authors thank V. P. Krainov, B. M. Smirnov, and M. V. Fedorov for useful discussions of these results.

Note added in proof. 1. The only modification of the theory of sudden perturbations for the most general case, in which the commutator $[\hat{V}(t), \hat{V}(t')]$ is any arbitrary operator, is that the time-evolution operator $\hat{S}_0(t, t')$ is written in zeroth order in $\omega \tau$ by means of the Magnus or Fer expansion, which incorporates successive commutators of the operators $\hat{V}(t)$ taken at various times, as mentioned earlier. The entire calculation scheme and, in particular, the equations for calculating the higher orders in $\omega \tau$, (19)-(20), remain the same.

2. All the results of Section 2 can be generalized directly to the case in which the unperturbed Hamiltonian also depends on the time by formally replacing $\hat{\mathscr{H}}_0(t)$ by $\int^t dt \mathcal{H}_0(t)$ [provided, of course, that $[\hat{\mathscr{H}}_0(t), \hat{\mathscr{H}}(t')] \equiv 0]$. To find the transition amplitudes in the case of sudden perturbations in this case it is more convenient to use the Schrödinger picture, transforming back from the time-evolution $\hat{S}(t, t')$ (calculated with the necessary accuracy) to the operator $\hat{U}(t, t')$.

¹A. M. Dykhne and G. L. Yudin, Usp. Fiz. Nauk **121**, 157 (1977) [Sov. Phys. Usp. **20**, 80 (1977)].

²A. B. Migdal and V. P. Krainov, Priblizhennye metody kvantovol mekhaniki (Approximation Methods of Quantum Mechan-

ics), Nauka, M., 1966 [Neo Press, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1968]; A. B. Migdal, Kachestvennye metody v kvantovoi teorii (Qualitative Methods in Quantum Theory), Nauka, M., 1975

[Benjamin, New York, 1977]. ³M. S. Freedman, in: Annual Reviews of Nuclear Science, Vol.

24, Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, California, 1974, p. 209.

- ⁴L. Schiff, Quantum Mechanics, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1955 (Russ. Transl., IL, M., 1959).
- ⁵K. Alder and A. Winther, Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selskab. Mat.-Fys. Medd. 32, No. 8 (1960).
- ⁶D. W. Robinson, Helv. Phys. Acta 36, 140 (1963).
- ⁷K. Takayanagi, Progr. Theor. Phys. (Kyoto) 25, Suppl. p. 43 (1963).
- ⁸M. Mizushima, Progr. Theor. Phys. (Kyoto) 40, Suppl. p. 207 (1967).
- ⁹R. Z. Vitlina and A. V. Chaplik, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 65, 458 (1973) [Sov. Phys. JETP 38, 224 (1974)].
- ¹⁰A. Bohr and B. R. Mottelson, Nuclear Structure, Benjamin, New York, 1969 (Russ. Transl., Mir, M., 1971).
- ¹¹J. M. Eisenberg and W. Greiner, Microscopic Theory of the Nucleus, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1972 (Russ. Transl., Atomizdat, M., 1976).
- ¹²L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Kvantovaya mekhanika (Quantum Mechanics), Nauka, M., 1974 [Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass. 1977].
- ¹³R. M. Wilcox, J. Math. Phys. 8, 962 (1967).
- ¹⁴W. Magnus, Comm. Pure and Appl. Math. 7, 649 (1954).
- ¹⁵P. Pechukas and J. C. Light, J. Chem. Phys. 44, 3897 (1966).
- ¹⁶F. Fer, Bull. Class. Sci. Acad. Roy. Belg. 44, 818 (1958).
- ¹⁷G. Weiss and A. A. Maradudin, J. Math. Phys. 3, 771 (1962).
- ¹⁸K. Kumar, J. Math Phys. 6, 1923, 1928 (1965).
- ¹⁹R. P. Feynman, Phys. Rev. 80, 440 (1950); 84, 108 (1951).
- ²⁰ R. P. Feynman and A. R. Hibbs, Quantum Mechanics and Path Integrals, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1965 (Russ. Transl., Mir, M., 1968).
- ²¹A. I. Baz', Ya. B. Zel'dovich, and A. M. Perelomov, Rasseyanie, reaktsii i raspady v nerelyativistskoi kvantovoi mekhanike (Scattering, Reactions, and Decay in Nonrelativistic Quantum Mechanics), Nauka, M., 1971.
- ²²I. G. Kaplan and A. P. Markin, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 64, 424 (1973) [Sov. Phys. JETP 37, 216 (1973)].
- ²³A. Erdelyi (editor), Higher Transcendental Functions, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953 (Russ. Transl. Vol. 2, Nauka, M., 1974).
- ²⁴R. G. Parr and R. J. White, J. Chem. Phys. 49, 1059 (1968).
 ²⁵G. Simons, R. G. Parr, and J. M. Finlan, J. Chem. Phys. 59, 3229 (1972).
- ²⁶G. Simons, J. Chem. Phys. 61, 369 (1974).

- ²⁷R. M. Bickes, Jr., and R. B. Bernstein, Chem. Phys. Lett. 26, 457 (1974).
- ²⁸A. Migdal, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 9, 1163 (1939).

- F

- ²⁹B. J. Bloch and L. B. Mendelson, Phys. Rev. Ser. A 9, 129 (1974).
- ³⁰G. L. Yudin, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 230, 1095 (1976) [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 21, 591 (1976)].
- ³⁴I. G. Kaplan and G. L. Yudin, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. **69**, 9 (1975) [Sov. Phys. JETP **42**, 4 (1975)].
- ³²G. T. Trammell, Phys. Rev. **126**, 1045 (1962).
- ³³I. B. Whittingham, J. Phys. Ser. A 4, 21 (1971).
- ³⁴J. W. Motz and G. Missoni, Phys. Rev. 124, 1458 (1961).
- ³⁵S. Shimizu, Y. Nakayama, and T. Mukoyama, Phys. Rev. Ser. A **140**, 806 (1965).
- ³⁶A. R. Reddy, V. Lakshminarayana, and S. Jnanananda, Ind. J. Pure and Appl. Phys. 4, 371 (1966).
- ³⁷P. N. Baba Prasad and P. P. Kane, J. Res. Nat. Bur. Stand. Ser. A 78, 461 (1974).
- ³⁸A. R. Reddy, K. Parthasaradhi, V. Lakshminarayana, and S. Jnanananda, Ind. J. Pure and Appl. Phys. 6, 255 (1968).
- ³⁹A. R. Reddy, V. Lakshminarayana, and S. Jnanananda, Proc. Phys. Soc. 91, 71 (1967).
- ⁴⁰O. Pingot, J. de Phys. **32**, 413 (1971).
- ⁴¹O. Pingot, J. de Phys. 33, 189 (1972).
- ⁴²S. T. P. V. J. Swamy and D. S. R. Murty, Phys. Lett. Ser. A 55, 17 (1975).
- ⁴³S. T. P. V. J. Swamy and D. S. R. Murty, Physica Ser. C 84, 289 (1976).
- ⁴⁴W. E. Lamb, Phys. Rev. 55, 190 (1939).
- ⁴⁵A. C. Zemach and R. J. Glauber, Phys. Rev. **101**, 118, 129 (1956).
- ⁴⁶G. Frauenfelder, The Mössbauer Effect, Benjamin, New York, 1962 (Russ. Transl. Atomizdat, M., 1964).
- ⁴⁷C. Kittel, Quantum Theory of Solids, Wiley Press, New York, 1963 (Russ. Transl. Nauka, M., 1967).
- ⁴⁸H. J. Lipkin, Quantum Mechanics, American Elsevier, New York, 1973 (Russ. Transl. Mir, M., 1977).
- ⁴⁹V. S. Letokhov, Phys. Rev. Ser. A 12, 1954 (1975).
- ⁵⁰V. S. Letokhov and V. G. Minogin, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 69, 1569 (1975) [Sov. Phys. JETP 42, 800 (1975)]; 70, 794 (1976) [43, 411 (1976)].
- ⁵¹ F. V. Bunkin and M. V. Fedorov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 49, 1215 (1965) [Sov. Phys. JETP 22, 844 (1966)].
- ⁵²N. F. Mott and H. S. W. Massey, Theory of Atomic Collision, Oxford Univ. Press, London, 1965 (Russ. Transl., Mir. M., 1969).

Translated by Dave Parsons